IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JEAN STEWART and KATHRYN REYNOLDS, Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of MABEL PITTMAN, Deceased,

Petitioners,

VS.

DR. I.B. PRICE, M.D.

Respondent.

Case No.: 93,804 District Court Case No.: 95-00996

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Tari Rossitto-Van Winkle 1425 North Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32303 (850) 224-3131 Florida Bar No.: 0613908 Attorney for Petitioners

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In conformity with the advisory committee notes accompanying Rule 9.210, Fla. R. App. P., Petitioners Jean Stewart and Kathryn Reynolds, co-personal representatives of the Estate of Mabel Pittman and Plaintiffs in the trial court, will be referred to collectively as, "the plaintiffs", "the daughters", "the co-personal representatives" or individually by name as the context requires. Mabel Pittman, the Estate's decedent, will be referred to as Mrs. Pittman or by full name. Respondent, I. B. Price, M.D., the defendant below, will be referred to as, "Dr. Price" or "the defendant".

The symbols "R" followed by a page citation, will refer to the trial court record on appeal. The two volume appendix accompanying this brief will be referred to first as "A.", then "Vol. I or II" as required, followed by a "T." for Tab and number 1 - 15, concluding with a page citation. Documents included in the appendix at Tabs 3 - 15, are part of the record at R 285 - 1337. The symbols "R.S.Ct." followed by a page citation refers to the Florida Supreme record.

The trial of this case took place on October 10 - 11, 1994, and January 17 - 20, 1995. Due to the inconsistent pagination of the trial transcript volumes for October 10 - 11, 1994, references to those trial proceedings will be made by date (e.g., "10/11/94" for October 11, 1994) followed by "Tr." and the page number. Further, since the two

volumes comprising the trial date of October 10, 1994, are not paginated sequentially, a further designation of "V. I" or "V. II" will be added for that date. Thus, the expression "(10/10/94, V. II, Tr. 3)" corresponds to page 3 of volume II of the trial transcript of October 10, 1994. But the similar expression "(10/10/94, V. I, Tr. 3)" corresponds to page 3 of *volume I* of the October 10, 1994 transcript. The pagination for the trial dates January 17th through January 20th, 1995, is consistent, and references will merely be to the date, followed by "Tr." and the page number. All emphasis has been supplied, unless otherwise indicated.¹

STATEMENT OF CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This Court is being asked to review that portion of the First District Court of Appeal's decision that expressly declares § 768.21(8), Florida Statutes (1991)², constitutional on its face and as applied. In addition, the Estate of Mabel Pittman raised nine other issues in its briefs before the First District Court of Appeal. The opinion of the First District addressed, and disposed of, those nine issues and they are

¹The undersigned certifies, pursuant to this Court's Administrative Order of July 28, 1998, that this brief uses 14 point Times Roman Font.

²§768.21(8), Florida Statutes (1991), provides: "The [wrongful death] damages specified in subsection (3) [lost companionship] shall not be recoverable by adult children and the damages specified in subsection (4) [parent's mental pain and suffering] shall not be recoverable by parents of an adult child with respect to claims for medical malpractice as defined by S. 766.106(1)."

now subject to review by this Court as well. In regard to the issue of the trial court's exclusion of the testimony of Plaintiffs' expert in internal medicine, Paul Bader, M.D., the First District held that constituted reversible error and remanded the case for a new trial. As to the other eight issues raised by the co-personal representatives, the First District found them, without opinion, to be "without merit". *Stewart v. Price*, 718 So.2d 205, 210 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998).

A. Factual and Procedural Background

[Mrs.] Pittman began seeing Dr. I.B. Price at least monthly commencing June 6, 1985. She was treated for a wide variety of ailments. In March 1987, [Mrs.] Pittman complained of redness and blistering on her right leg and cortisone was prescribed by Dr. Price. Thereafter, [Mrs.] Pittman's right great toe became swollen and she noticed, according to her videotaped deposition, a small, whitish lesion under the toenail. Dr. Price prescribed fungal cream for the toe. On subsequent visits, [Mrs.] Pittman continued to complain about the toe, which had continued to swell and cause her significant pain. In February 1989, [Mrs.] Pittman sought treatment regarding her toe from another physician and she was eventually referred to Dr. Evans who performed a biopsy of the lesion. Laboratory tests revealed melanoma cancer and, as a result, [Mrs.] Pittman's toe was amputated. By the time of the amputation, however, the cancer had metastasized. Although repeated surgical interventions were undertaken in attempt to control the cancer, Mabel Pittman died on May 15, 1991. The pathologist who performed the autopsy testified that massive gastro-intestinal bleeding was the cause of death, with cirrhosis and cancer as the contributing factors. Dr. Evans testified that cancer was the cause of death.

Before her death, [Mrs.] Pittman filed suit against Dr. Price alleging negligent diagnosis and treatment, intentional misrepresentation and concealment of the condition, and negligent care and treatment of cirrhosis. After [Mrs.] Pittman's death, her daughters and co-personal representatives,

the appellants, were substituted as plaintiffs and the complaint was amended to include four additional tort claims and a challenge to the constitutionality of section 768.21(8), Florida Statutes (1991)....

At trial, appellants sought to call Paul Bader, M.D., as an expert in internal medicine. Dr. Bader is a medical doctor board certified in internal medicine. Upon the appellee's objection, the trial court prohibited any testimony from Dr. Bader regarding the standard of care for internists on the rationale that Dr. Price is a general practitioner or provided only general practitioner care to [Mrs.] Pittman. Accordingly, the lower court ruled that Dr. Bader did not satisfy the expert witness requirements of section 766.102(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1991)....

Stewart v. Price, 718 So.2d 205, 207 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998).

Plaintiffs also called defendant Dr. Price as a witness at trial. (1/17/95, Tr. 139) He testified that he had done an internship and residency in both internal medicine and cardiology, (1/17/95 Tr. 143-144); but that he was never board certified in internal medicine because he could not pass the orals. (10/10/94,V. I. Tr. 136 - 137 (proffer); *see also* 10/11/94, Tr.12 (statement of defense counsel that, "[h]ere's a doctor who failed an exam").) It was also undisputed that the sign outside of Dr. Price's office read, "Internal Medicine", (R. 3182); and that his letterhead read: "Dr. Price, M.D., P.A., Internal Medicine and Cardiology." (10/10/94, V.I.. Tr.24,31; Pltfs. Ex. Nos. 3 & 4). Furthermore, Dr. Price admitted at trial that he considers himself, "an internal medicine specialist." (1/17/95, Tr. 152.)

The trial court, however, ruled in limine that Plaintiffs were not permitted to

question Dr. Price on the fact that he had failed to pass the board examinations in internal medicine. (10/11/94, Tr. 12-13.) Secure in this ruling *in limine*, Dr. Price freely boasted at trial that he was a specialist in internal medicine:

Q. Based on your letterhead, these prescriptions and your sign, did you hold yourself out as a specialist in internal medicine?

A. Well, yes. Basically I considered myself an internal medicine specialist; . . .

(1/17/95, Tr. 152.)

At the close of Plaintiffs' evidence, the trial court granted a directed verdict as to the cause of Mrs. Pittman's death; and ruled that Mrs. Pittman died of malignant melanoma, not upper gastrointestinal bleeding, despite the conflict in testimony, noted earlier, between the pathologist who performed the autopsy, and Dr. Evan's, Mrs. Pittman's surgeon.³ (1/20/95, Tr. 1075.) With this ruling, the Court effectively held that this was an action for wrongful death only. The jury returned a verdict that Dr. Price did not cause Mrs. Pittman's death. (1/20/95, Tr. 1362)

However, on appeal from the adverse jury verdict and final judgment, the First District Court of Appeal granted Plaintiffs a new trial on the basis of the reversible error previously noted; and, accepted their invitation to address the constitutionality of

³ Previously, counsel for defense conceded that the testimony of Dr. Evans would, "give some opinion testimony and enough to beat me on DV." (10/11/94, Tr. 110.) The Court nonetheless granted the motion for directed verdict.

§ 768.21(8), Fla. Sta. (1991), despite the absence of a liability determination, because of the reasonable likelihood that the issue would again surface on retrial. The First District Court of Appeal then held § 768.21(8), Fla. Stat.(1991), of the Florida Wrongful Death Act, valid on its face, and as applied. They specifically held § 768.21(8), Fla. Stat. (1991), constitutional on its face, and as applied, on the grounds that it did not violate the federal or state constitutional guarantees of either the equal protection or due process clauses; and did not infringe upon the Florida constitutional guarantee of access to courts under Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const. *Stewart at 209*. They then denied Plaintiffs' Motions for Rehearing and Certification of the question of the constitutionality of § 768.21(8), Fla. Stat. (1991), as a matter of great public importance. (R.S.Ct. 29 and A., Vol. I, Tab. 2, p. 14).

Mrs. Pittman's co-personal representatives then filed a notice to invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court, requesting review of the First District's decision under Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., asserting that the decision of the First District was expressly and directly in conflict with the decisions of the Third District in *Mizrahi v. North Miami Medical Center, LTD.*, 712 So.2d 826 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1998) and *Garber v. Snetman*, 712 So.2d 481 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1998); and also expressly declared valid a state statute. This Court accepted Discretionary Jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs suggest to this Court that both the trial court and the First District Court of Appeal committed reversible error in finding Section 768.21(8), Florida Statutes (1991), constitutional both on its face and as applied. For the reasons set forth below this Court should: find that the First District Court of Appeal committed reversible error in holding §768.21(8), Fla. Stat. (1991), constitutional; hold the subject section *unconstitutional*; and quash that portion of the First District's opinion which holds to the contrary.

Section 768.21(8), Fla. Stat. (1991), denies plaintiffs a fundamental right, serves no legitimate state interest and creates an arbitrary and irrational classification which treats the survivors of persons killed by medical malpractice differently from the survivors of persons killed by all other torts. It offends the following three constitutional projections, both on its face and as applied: (1) the fundamental right of access to courts under Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const.; (2) the state and federal constitutional rights of equal protection; and (3) the state and federal constitutional rights to due process.

First, the statute offends the constitutional imperative that "[t]he courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury." Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const. It denies the plaintiffs access to the courts for the redress of their harm which predated Florida's

7

Declaration of Rights and the 1968 Florida Constitution. *Kluger v. White*, 281 So. 2d 1,4 (Fla. 1973). The legislature cannot eliminate an established right without providing a suitable alternative. *Martin v. United Security Services, Inc.*, 314 So.2d 765 (Fla.1975).

Second, §768.21(8) of the Florida Wrongful Death Act violates the state and federal equal protection clauses because it serves no legitimate state interest and creates an arbitrary and irrational distinction between the survivors of persons killed by medical malpractice and the survivors of persons killed in all other tort cases. Given that the statute comes down most heavily on the elderly poor (who have no "lost earnings" or "net accumulations" to speak of, and who can be killed most cheaply by malpractice), this classification does not "apply equally and uniformly to all persons within the class" and further bears no "reasonable and just relationship to a legitimate state objective." *State v. Leicht*, 402 So. 2d 1153, 1155 (Fla. 1981). The act also effectively distributes "funds arbitrarily and discriminatorily to a special limited class of private individuals" in the manner disapproved of in *State v. Lee*, 356 So. 2d 276, 279 (Fla. 1978) (striking good driver's incentive fund in Tort Reform Act of 1977).

Third, the statute offends notions of federal and state due process, *see* Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const.; U.S. Const. Amend XIV, in that it bears no "reasonable relation to a permissible legislative objective." *Lasky v. State Farm Insurance Co.*, 296 So. 2d 9

(Fla. 1974). It is not disputed that the Legislature has the power to address a medical malpractice crisis (real or perceived); however, Section 768.21(8) is not reasonably related to a legitimate state purpose. It simply excludes a class of potential plaintiffs based not on the merits of their claim, but rather on the happenstance of their injury and their economic situation. The statute is also arbitrary, *see Psychiatric Assoc. v. Siegel*, 610 So. 2d 419, 425 (Fla. 1992), since it discriminates against poor elderly patients, depriving them, and their survivors, of any redress for even the most flagrant mistreatment.

Plaintiffs further suggest to this Court that, although the First District reached a correct result in finding that the trial court committed reversible error when it excluded the testimony of Dr. Bader, plaintiffs' expert on internal medicine; it committed reversible error when it failed to find fault with the trial court's rulings excluding evidence that Dr. Price failed his internal medicine board examination, and granted a directed verdict on the issue of Mrs. Pittman's cause of death. These issues will come up again on retrial, and that portion of the First District 's opinion failing to find merit in these arguments should be reversed and the case should be remanded for a new trial.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. SECTION 768.21(8), FLORIDA STATUTES, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Plaintiffs suggest to this Court that both the trial court and the First District Court of Appeal committed reversible error in finding Section 768.21(8), Fla. Stat. (1991), constitutional both on its face and as applied. For the reasons set forth below this Court should: find that the First District Court of Appeal committed reversible error in holding §768.21(8), Fla. Stat. (1991), constitutional; hold the subject section *unconstitutional*; and quash that portion of the First District Court of Appeals opinion which holds to the contrary.

A. Section 768.21(8) Deprives the Adult Children of Person's Killed by Medical Malpractice Their Fundamental Right of Access to Florida's Courts.

Plaintiffs maintain that Section 768.21(8), Fla. Stat. (1991), violates their fundamental right of access to Florida's courts guaranteed under Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const., and under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and is unconstitutional on its face and as applied. Article I, § 21, Fla. Const, provides that, "The courts shall be open to *every* person for redress of *any* injury." Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const.

The benchmark case on this provision, that sets forth what plaintiffs suggest is the two part test by which legislation challenged under Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const. is to be examined by thus court, is Kluger v. White, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973).⁴ In Kluger this

Court declared unconstitutional that portion of the Florida Automobile Reparations

Act which abolished a right of action in tort for property damage arising from an

automobile accident. Just as in this case, the statute at issue there *exempted* from tort

liability for damages those persons who were *legally* responsible for the damage.

Justice Adkins, in writing for the *Kluger* Court set out the test as follows:

We hold, therefore, that where a right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury has been provided by statutory law predating the adoption of the Declaration of Rights of the Constitution of the State of Florida, or where such right has become a part of the common law of the State pursuant to Fla. Stat.. s 2.01, F.S.A., the Legislature is without power to abolish such a right without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of the State to redress for injuries, unless the Legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown.

Id. at 4.

Thus, under Kluger, this Court must begin any analysis of § 768.21(8) in this case

by answering the following question:

1. Did the right to redress for a particular injury, that the statute in question is seeking to abolish, exist at common law, *or* in statutory law, before the adoption of the Declaration of Rights of the Constitution of the State of Florida?

⁴ The First District Court of Appeal did not find that §768.21 (8), Fla. Stat.(1991), eliminated an existing remedy. However, it noted that if it had, it would have been required to engage in a different analysis under *Kluger*. *Stewart v. Price*, 718 at 209.

If the answer is "no", then under *Kluger* the analysis stops. The statute is constitutional. But if the answer is "yes", then the statute in question may only constitutionally eliminate that right of access to redress the particular injury, without providing a reasonable alternative, *if* the Legislature can establish:

a. an overpowering public necessity for the elimination of such right

and

b. that no alternative method of meeting that public necessity exists. *Id. at 4*.

In regard to the first prong of the *Kluger* analysis, while it is true that the common law did not recognize actions for wrongful death;⁵ *Stewart v. Price*, 718 So.2d 205(1998), Florida has had a long tradition of allowing statutory survival actions and statutory wrongful death actions. Indeed, even Florida's Territorial Legislature provided for such relief back in 1828:

Be it further enacted, That hereafter, **all actions for personal injuries**, shall die with the person, to wit, assault and batteries, slander, false imprisonment and malicious prosecutions; all other actions **shall and may be maintained in the name of the representative of the deceased**.

An Act Regulating Judicial Proceedings, § 30 at 34, Acts of the Legislative Council of

⁵ See, e.g., *Higgins v. Butcher*, Yelv. 89, 80 Eng. Rep. 61 (K.B. 1607) (right of action died with victim); *Baker v. Bolton*, 1 Camp. 493, 170 Eng. Rep. 1033 (N.P. 1808) (relatives of victim had no cause of action for loss of financial support, emotional loss).

the Territory of Florida (1828). *Accord* Fla. Rev. St. § 989 (1892); Fla. Gen. Stat. § 1375 (1906); Fla. Rev. Gen. St. § 2571 (1920); Fla. Comp. Gen. Laws § 4211 (1927); Laws of Fla. c. 26541 § 1 (1951); Fla. Stat. § 45.11 (1965), *amended and codified at* § 46.021, Fla. Stat. (1967).

Current § 46.021, reads, "*Actions; surviving death of party*. No cause of action dies with the person. All causes of action survive and may be commenced, prosecuted and defended of the person prescribed by law." §46.021, Fla.Stat. (1967)⁶.

Thus, the answer to the first question in this case, under the *Kluger* analysis, is "Yes". Under the first part of the *Kluger* test, Mrs. Pittman's daughters, as co-personal representative of her Estate, clearly had a right to bring a survival action in Florida's courts under §46.021, Fla. Stat. (1967). This action was filed by Mrs. Pittman on March 15, 1991, while she was still alive. (R.35, 85.) Her initial Complaint asserted causes of action for medical malpractice against Dr. Price and sought damages for her pain and suffering. (R.35.) After she died, May 15, 1991, her daughters, as copersonal representatives of her Estate, were substituted in as parties (R. 104). Clearly,

⁶ In the First District Court of Appeal's opinion the court, at footnote 2, does acknowledged that the language of "§ 46.021, Florida Statutes, [did] provide that no cause of action dies with the claimant"; but it refused to acknowledge that the wrongful death statute eliminated that cause of action by asserting that it merely "limits the category of damages recoverable by the decedents estate" and cites *Martin* as direct authority. This analysis ignores the basic legal principle that **damages** is an element of every legal cause of action. If plaintiffs cannot prove damages no cause of action exists. Therefore, by limiting the category of damages the wrongful death statute abolishes a cause of action and denies access to courts under Art. I, §21, Fla. Const.

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