IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 93,804

JEAN STEWART and KATHRYN REYNOLDS, Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of MABLE PITTMAN, Deceased,

Petitioners,

vs.

DR. I.B. PRICE, M.D.,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT, I.B. PRICE, M.D.

ESTHER E. GALICIA, ESQUIRE

Florida Bar No. 510459
GEORGE, HARTZ, LUNDEEN, FLAGG & FULMER
Attorneys for Respondent, I.B. PRICE, M.D.
524 South Andrews Avenue, Suite 300E
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
(954) 462-1620

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

The type size and style used in this Brief is 14 point proportionately spaced Times New Roman.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Both the trial court and the First District Court of Appeal properly determined that Section 768.21(8), Florida Statutes (1991), is constitutional.

The decision of the Legislature to extend the right to recover noneconomic damages to the adult surviving children of a decedent who dies of causes unrelated to medical malpractice does not violate the Right of Access to the Courts. Section 768.21(8) does not, notably, preclude the adult surviving children of a decedent from entering the courthouse. In other words, Section 768.21(8) has not abolished "the right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury . . . provided by statutory law" or the common law. The adult surviving children of a decedent have never had a common law or statutory right to recover damages for their own noneconomic losses. Section 768.21(8) simply does not extend a right to certain adult surviving children which they have never had.

Section 768.21(8), Florida Statutes (1991), also passes constitutional muster under the Petitioners' Equal Protection challenge. The legislative history underlying the enactment of Section 768.21(8) demonstrates that the purpose of the exclusion set forth in that provision was to prevent increases in insurance premiums in order to keep medical care both affordable and accessible. The Legislature's enactment of Section 768.21(8) bears a rational relationship to the legitimate state interest of preserving the accessibility of health care for Florida residents by curtailing medical malpractice costs. Petitioners have failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute has no conceivable factual predicate to support the classification. When the Legislature chose to expand wrongful death recovery to certain classes of survivors, it was not required to expand it to all classes of survivors. Therefore, the presumption of validity that is afforded to legislative enactments has not been overcome.

Petitioners' Substantive Due Process challenge must also fail. Since there is no constitutional right to wrongful death damages, Petitioners' challenge is subject to a "rational basis" analysis virtually identical to the one applied to Equal Protection challenges. Petitioners' Substantive Due Process challenge must therefore fail for the same reasons that their Equal Protection claim failed.

Should this Court declare Section 768.21(8) unconstitutional, Chapter 90-14 must necessarily be condemned in its entirety. In other words, Sections 768.21(3) and (4) cannot survive a declaration that Section 768.21(8) is unconstitutional. These sections are "so inseparable in substance that it can[not] be said that the Legislature would have passed the one without the other."

The First District did err in reversing the trial court's decision to exclude the opinion testimony of Dr. Bader concerning the appropriate standard of care of a family practice physician. Dr. Bader was neither a "similar health care provider" nor did he possess sufficient training, knowledge or experience in family practice so as to qualify as an expert witness pursuant to Section 766.102, Florida Statutes (1991). Furthermore, since the Petitioners and DR. PRICE both presented one expert witness on the standard of care, limiting Dr. Bader's testimony, if error by the trial court, was harmless and does not require a new trial.

The First District properly concluded that the trial court did not err in excluding the irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial evidence concerning DR. PRICE's failure to pass the oral portion of his board examination in internal medicine. DR. PRICE's qualifications in internal medicine were irrelevant to this action since he provided treatment to Mrs. Pittman simply as her family practice physician.

Finally, the First District properly rejected the Petitioners' contention that the trial court erred in directing a verdict on the cause of Mrs. Pittman's death. The evidence and expert testimony clearly establish that, within a reasonable degree of medical probability, Mrs. Pittman died of metastatic melanoma. Even after drawing every reasonable inference in favor of the Petitioners, there was no reasonable basis to conclude that Mrs. Pittman died of anything else.

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 768.21(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

Florida's Wrongful Death Act, Section 768.16 through Section 768.27, Florida Statutes, creates statutory causes of action on behalf of various "survivors" of persons who died because of the wrongful act of another. The provision of the Wrongful Death Act at issue in this case, Section 768.21, Florida Statutes (1991), defines the elements of damages that may be awarded to the estate for the various losses incurred by the decedents and their survivors. Since its enactment in 1972, the Legislature has expanded the scope of damages allowable under the Wrongful Death Act three (3) times. *See* Chapters 81-183, 85-260 and 90-14, Laws of Florida. A claim for wrongful death was not authorized at common law and, therefore, claimants are strictly limited to the damages allowed under the statutory scheme of recovery. *See* White v. Clayton, 323 So. 2d 573, 575 (Fla. 1975).

The Petitioners' challenge in this case is to Chapter 90-14, Laws of Florida. This Act permits adult children of persons who die from the wrongful act of another to assert a cause of action for wrongful death if there is no surviving spouse of the decedent. The Act also permits the parents of an adult child to recover damages for mental pain and suffering if there are no other survivors. These provisions expand the allowable damages under the Wrongful Death Act which were not previously authorized by the Legislature. As part of the same Act, however, the Legislature declined to extend these new forms of damages to claims for medical malpractice as defined by section 766.106(1).

Petitioners have no disagreement with the Legislature's expansion of the causes of action and damages allowable under the Wrongful Death Act. Petitioners claim, however, that the Legislature acted unconstitutionally by not extending the expansion of the Wrongful Death Act to include medical malpractice claims.

Section 768.21, Florida Statutes (1991), of the Wrongful Death Act, states in pertinent part:

(3) Minor children of the decedent, and all children of the decedent if there is no surviving spouse, may also recover for lost parental companionship, instruction, and guidance and for any mental pain and suffering from the date of the injury.

. . . .

(8) The damages specified in subsection (3) shall not be recoverable by adult children, and the damages specified in subsection (4) shall not be recoverable by parents of an adult child with respect to claims for medical malpractice as defined in s. 766.106(1).

§ 768.21(3), (8), Fla. Stat. (1991).

Petitioners challenge the statute on the grounds that it violates the Right of Access to the Courts guaranteed under Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution and under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution; that it violates the Equal Protection Clause, Article I, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution; and, that is violates their Substantive Due Process Rights under the Florida and United States Constitutions. With regard to the Equal Protection and Substantive Due Process challenges, Petitioners assert that there is no rational distinction between death by medical malpractice and death by any other tort. Petitioners further contend that the statute creates a classification which is discriminatory, arbitrary and irrational and bears no reasonable relation to any legitimate state objective.

A. <u>Section 768.21(8) does not Violate the Petitioners' Right of Access to the</u> <u>Courts</u>.

The First District in <u>Stewart</u> correctly disposed of Petitioners' access to the courts

challenge with the following statement:

Chapter 90-14 closed no courthouse doors. Rather, it opened, albeit only for some, those doors by creating a limited right of recovery where no recovery had previously existed at all. We find section 768.21(8) constitutes therefore neither a denial of due process nor a denial of access to courts. In short, Appellants have failed to overcome the presumption of constitutionality of this statute. *See Florida Dep't of Education v. Glasser*, 622 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 1993).

Stewart, 718 So. 2d at 210.

The test applied in access to courts challenges is set forth in the seminal case of <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973). While Petitioners acknowledge the <u>Kluger</u> standard, they clearly misapply it. The first inquiry in an access to the courts analysis is, as Petitioners correctly point out, whether "<u>redress for a particular injury</u> has been <u>provided by statutory law</u> predating the adoption of the Declaration of Rights of the Constitution of the State of Florida" or by "the <u>common law</u>." <u>Kluger</u>, 281 So. 2d at 4 (emphasis added). If the answer to this inquiry is no, the statute does not violate the Right of Access to the Courts. If the answer is yes, the inquiry must go further.

DR. PRICE submits that this Court does not have to go any further than the first inquiry. Petitioners concede "that the common law did not recognize actions for wrongful

death."² [Petitioners' Brief on the Merits, p. 12]. Petitioners then, however, spuriously argue that redress for the "particular injury" existed via the statutory survival action provided by section 46.021, Florida Statutes (1967), and its predecessors.³ Petitioners' argument conveniently ignores the very nature of the damages they are so vehemently seeking to recover.

Statutory survival actions permitted the recovery of damages for, among other things, the **injured person's** pain and suffering, regardless of whether the injury resulted in death. *See* <u>Martin v. United Security Services, Inc.</u>, 314 So. 2d 765, 767 (Fla. 1975). The damages Petitioners seek here, however, are for **their own** "lost parental companionship, instruction, and guidance and for mental pain and suffering from the date of injury." *See* § 768.21(3), Fla. Stat. (1991). Statutory survival actions have never, without dispute, permitted an adult surviving child to personally recover such noneconomic damages. *See* <u>Martin</u>, 314 So. 2d at 767-768. Accordingly, Section 768.21(8) has not abolished "the right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury . . . provided by statutory law" and it thus passes constitutional muster.

² The *Amici* on the Petitioners' behalf, nevertheless, seek to change over 200 years worth of common law, without justification and legal support.

³ The *Amici* for Petitioners similarly contend that Florida's 1972 Wrongful Death Act abolished the right, under the Survival Statute, to recover the decedent's pain and suffering which thereafter benefitted the decedent's heirs. [Amici's Brief, pp. 15-18]. *Amici* fail to realize, however, that the Survival Statute has never conferred the adult surviving children of a decedent with any rights or causes of action. Adult surviving children have never had a right to sue for the decedent's pain and suffering. That right has **only** belonged to the decedent or the decedent's estate. Similarly, the Survival Statutes have never conferred adult surviving children with the right to recover the noneconomic damages they sustained as a result of the decedent's death.

Section 768.21(8) does not, very importantly, preclude the adult surviving children of a decedent from entering the courthouse. It simply does not extend to some of them the right to recover noneconomic damages. Petitioners are therefore in no worse position than they were prior to the enactment of Section 768.21(8).

Finally and incredibly, Petitioners also appear to be challenging the 1972 Wrongful Death Act, in its entirety, on access to the courts grounds. In particular, Petitioners question the propriety of substituting the injured person's right to recover pain and suffering damages (which are inherited by surviving beneficiaries if the injured person died) for the close relative survivors' right to recover noneconomic damages. This Court specifically and expressly addressed Petitioners' concerns over 24 years ago in <u>Martin v.</u> <u>United Security Services, Inc.</u>, 314 So. 2d 765 (Fla. 1975), and stated:

We hold that Sections 768.16-768.27, Florida Statutes, are constitutional to the extent that they consolidate survival and wrongful death actions and substitute for a decedent's pain and suffering the survivors' pain and suffering as an element of damages. . . .

... The claim for pain and suffering of the decedent from the date of injury to the date of death was eliminated. Substituted therefor was a claim for pain and suffering of close relatives, the clear purpose being that any recovery should be for the living and not the for the dead....

. . . .

• • • •

[W]e believe that the new right of surviving close relatives to recover for their own pain and suffering brought about by the wrongful death of a decedent is a reasonable alternative to dividing among the survivors the amount formerly recoverable under Section 46.021, Florida Statutes, for the decedent's pain and suffering, if any. The <u>new item of</u> damages is much more susceptible of proof, since the party claiming damage for the pain and suffering is available to testify, while the claim formerly permitted under Section 46.021 for the decedent's pain and suffering had to be based upon testimony of others. (emphasis added)

314 So. 2d at 767-771.

B. <u>Section 768.21(8) does not Violate the Right to Equal Protection</u>.

Petitioners also argue that Section 768.21(8) violates the Equal Protection Clause

because it creates an irrational distinction between adult child survivors in medical

negligence cases and adult child survivors in non-medical negligence cases. However,

as the First District noted in <u>Stewart</u>:

[U]nder the common law an adult, who has not been dependant on a parent, was not entitled to recover damages for the wrongful death of a parent. (citations omitted). Prior to the enactment of Chapter 90-14, Laws of Florida, under section 768.21(3) only *minor* children could recover damages for their pain and suffering upon the wrongful death of a parent. (citation omitted). . . .

We do not find that an equal protection violation is presented by this separate treatment. Had the legislature eliminated an existing remedy, we would be required to employ a different constitutional analysis. See Kluger v. White, 281 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973). Because no statutory or common law right existed for the adult children of persons who wrongfully died as a result of medical malpractice, however, section 768.21(8) may be declared an unconstitutional denial of equal protection only if it bears no rational relationship to a legitimate state objective. . . . We find no constitutional barrier to the legislature's subsequent *limited* grant of the right to recover damages for pain and suffering to adult, nondependant children. The legislature's choice to exclude from such right adult children of persons who wrongfully died as a result of medical malpractice bears a rational relationship to the legitimate state interests of limiting increases in medical

insurance costs. *See* § 766.201(1), Fla. Stat. (1995). (italics in the original)

718 So. 2d at 209-210.

The Third District in Mizrahi v. North Miami Medical Center, Ltd., 712 So. 2d

826 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), likewise recognized the public purpose served by Section

768.21(8) and the rational relationship of this statutory section to such purpose:

We find that the statute's disparate treatment of medical malpractice wrongful deaths *does* bear a rational relationship to the legitimate state interest of ensuring the accessibility of medical care to Florida residents by curtailing the skyrocketing medical malpractice insurance premiums in Florida. *See* § 766.201(1), Fla. State. [sic] (1995). Obviously, these escalating insurance costs adversely impact not only physicians but also, ultimately, their patients through the resultant increased cost of medical care.

. . . .

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